## A COMPARATIVE STUDY FOR THE REMOVAL OF HUMIC ACIDS FROM POWER PLANT MAKE-UP WATERS

## **GERHARD GERICKE**

### SUBMITTED IN FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN THE DEPARTMENT OF CHEMISTRY, UNIVERSITY OF THE WESTERN CAPE

SUPERVISOR: PROF. V LINKOV

**JUNE 2002** 

# DECLARATION BY CANDIDATE

I, Gerhard Gericke, declare that unless indicated, this dissertation is my own and that it has not been submitted for a degree at another University or Institution.

G Gericke

June 2002

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author gratefully acknowledge:

- Ms Damini Surender (Chemical Technologies, Eskom TSI) for the dedicated manner in which she conducted the experimental work reported in Chapter 4.
- Mr Alvin Maluleke (University of the Western Cape) for the construction of the anodic oxidation chamber.
- Eskom Resources and Strategy for funding this research.

# DEDICATION

To Marinda, Corne-Mari, Simonne and Reinette

## ABSTRACT

# A COMPARATIVE STUDY FOR THE REMOVAL OF HUMIC ACIDS FROM POWER PLANT MAKE-UP WATERS

#### GERHARD GERICKE

There is an ever-increasing need to improve the quality of make-up water to power plants. One area of research that has received a lot of attention in recent years is the question of the removal of natural organic matter from boiler feed-water. The sources and impacts of organic material have been discussed as well as the possible techniques to remove or reduce the levels of natural organic matter from surface waters used as make-up water. For this study, four treatment techniques were chosen to determine their efficacy in removing humic acid. These are: enhanced coagulation, photo-oxidation, chemical oxidation and anodic oxidation. Due to the lack of readily available analytical chromatographic techniques to identify and quantify the humic acid concentration of the model compound used, the methods for comparing the various treatment techniques were limited to total organic carbon, spectrophotometric and chemical oxygen demand analyses. The results showed that enhanced coagulation would still be the preferred method in removing natural organic matter from surface water until a cost effective alternative technique has been identified. However anodic oxidation showed potential as an efficient oxidation technique in reducing natural organic matter in surface water, but further research in this field needs to be undertaken to develop this technology into a full scale industrial process. The research will have to be supported by the development of suitable analytical techniques such as HPLC and LC/MS to facilitate the qualitative and quantitative studies of the complex humic acids and their oxidation by-products.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS:

PAGE:

#### CHAPTER 1:

INTRODUCTION:		1
1.1	DEMIN WATER SPECIFICATIONS AND TREATMENT PROCESSES	3
1.2	EMPLOYED BY ESKOM IMPACT OF NOM ON DEMINERALISATION PROCESSES	6
1.3	THE FATE OF ORGANICS IN STEAM/WATER CYCLES	9
1.4	THE NATURE AND ORIGIN OF NOM	13

#### CHAPTER 2:

NOM REMOVAL TECHNIQUES:		15
		17

2.1	COAGULATION AND FLOCCULATION	17
2.2	PHOTOCATALYTIC OXIDATION	21
2.3	ELECTROCHEMICAL OXIDATION	25

### CHAPTER 3:

#### EXPERIMENTAL METHODS:

28

3.1	PREPARATION OF HUMIC ACID SOLUTION	29
3.2	CHARACTERISATION OF THE SOLID HUMIC ACID SUBSTANCE	29

3.3	ANALYSIS OF THE WORKING ACID SOLUTION BY HPLC	30
34	UV/VIS CALIBRATION CURVES	30
3.5	COD ANALYSIS	30
3.6	REDUCTION OF HUMIC ACID BY COAGULATION/FLOCCULATION	31
3.7	REDUCTION OF HUMIC ACID BY PHOTO-OXIDATION	31
38	CHEMICAL OXIDATION BY HYDROGEN PEROXIDE	32
3.9	REDUCTION OF HUMIC ACID BY ANODIC OXIDATION	32

#### CHAPTER 4:

RESULTS		34
4.1	CHARACTERISATION OF THE SOLID HUMIC SUBSTANCE	35
4.2	UV/VIS CALIBRATION CURVES	36
43	HUMIC ACID REDUCTION BY COAGULATION/FLOCCULATION	37
44	HUMIC ACID REDUCTION BY CHEMICAL OXIDATION	41
4.5	HUMIC ACID REDUCTION PHOTO/PHOTO-CATALYTIC OXIDATION	44
4.6	HUMIC ACID REDUCTION AS A RESULT OF ANODIC OXIDATION	49

## CHAPTER 5:

CONCLUSIONS		54
5.1	COAGULATION/FLOCCULATION OF HUMIC ACID	55
5.2	CHEMICAL OXIDATION BY HYDROGEN PEROXIDE	55
5.3	PHOTO-OXIDATION	56
5.4	ANODIC OXIDATION	56
5.5	GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	57

### CHAPTER 6

RECOMMENDATIONS	58
REFERENCES	61
APPENDIX A: PUBLICATION BY AUTHOR	68

# LIST OF FIGURES:

PAGE:

Figure 1.1	Typical water treatment plant employed at Eskom power	5
	stations	7
Figure 1.2	Ion exchange	0
Figure 1.3	Sodium leakage levels from various stages in the	0
Figure 1.4	TOC leakage levels from various stages in the demineralisation process	8
Figure 1.5	TOC concentration versus cation conductivity in superheated steam	12
Figure 2.1	A typical semiconductor particle cell	22
Figure 3.1	UV reactor	32
Figure 3.2	Schematic of flat electro-membrane reactor	33
Figure 4.1	Humic acid calibration curve at 430 nm	36
Figure 4.2	Humic acid calibration curve at 254 nm	37
Figure 4.3	TOC reduction as a function of alum concentration	38
Figure 4.4	Humic acid reduction (DOC) as a function of alum	38
Figure 4.5	concentration Humic acid reduction (colour) as a function of alum	39
Figure 4.6	COD reduction as a function of alum concentration	39
Figure 4.7	TOC reduction as a function of $H_2O_2$ concentration	41
Figure 4.8	Humic acid reduction (DOC) as a function of $H_2O_2$	42
Figure 4.9	Humic acid (colour) reduction as a function of $H_2O_2$	42
Figure 4.10	COD reduction as a function of $H_2O_2$ concentration	43
Figure 4 11	TOC reduction as a function of UV exposure time	44
Figure 4.12	Organic reduction (DOC) as a function of UV exposure	45
Figure 4.13	time measured at 254 nm Humic acid reduction (colour) as a function of UV	45
Figure 4 14	COD reduction as a function of UV exposure time	46
Figure 4.15	TOC reduction as a function of catalysed UV exposure	47
Figure 4.16	time Organic reduction (DOC) as a function of catalysed UV exposure time measured at 254 nm	47

Figure 4.17	Humic acid reduction (colour) as a function of catalysed	48
Figure 4.18	UV exposure time at 430 nm COD reduction as a function of catalysed UV exposure	48
Figure 4.19	time TOC reduction as a function of flow rate	50
Figure 4.20	Humic acid (DOC) reduction by anodic oxidation as a	51
Figure 4.21	Humic acid (colour) reduction by anodic oxidation as a	51
Figure 4.22	function of flow rate COD reduction by anodic oxidation as a function of flow rate	52

# LIST OF TABLES:

### PAGE:

Table 1.1	Demin water specifications for coal fired power stations	3
Table 1.2	measured at the mixed outlet Average water quality from the Komati, Usuthu and Vaal rivers	4
Table 1.3	Increase in ionic species concentration after photocatalytic oxidation of demineralised water	11
Table 1.4	TOC removal before and after brine wash of ion exchange resin	12
Table 2.1	Conceptual model of NOM coagulation	20
Table 2.2	Comparative oxidation potentials	21
Table 4.1	Major composition of the solid humic substance	35
Table 4.2	Ash elemental analysis	35
Table 4.1	Current measurements of flow rate and pH during the anodic decomposition of humic acid	53

# GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ALARA	As low as reasonably achievable
Alum	Aluminium sulphate
Caustic	Sodium hydroxide solution
COD	Chemical oxygen demand
Demin water	Water treated by a demineralisation process
DOC	Dissolved organic carbon concentration
EPRI	Electrical Power Research Institute
NOM	Natural organic matter
OA	Oxygen absorbed
pН	The negative logarithm of the hydrogen ion activity measured at a defined temperature, usually at 25 0C
ррb	Parts per billion, (µg/l)
ppm	Parts per million, (mg/l)
TDS	Total dissolved solids
ТНМ	Trihalomethane
тос	Total organic carbon concentration
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
VGB	Vereinigung der Grosskraftwerksbetreiber

# CHAPTER 1:

# **INTRODUCTION**

Water treatment forms an integral part of thermal electric power generation (coal fired as well as nuclear power stations). There are generally two main water cycles associated with thermal power generation, namely the steam/water cycle that uses demin water for the production of steam and the cooling water circuit, which is used for condensing the steam back to water. The two cycles are isolated from each other and exchange heat via a condenser.

Power station make up water treatment plants have traditionally been designed to produce water of a very high quality (free from inorganic salts) by synthetic ion exchange resins. Raw water quality (mainly TDS, OA and silica) is the key factor in the design of the plant. Any deterioration of raw water quality during the life cycle of the plant, which is currently a South African and worldwide phenomenon, will inevitably have a negative impact on treatment plant performance and plant integrity. In order to meet the specifications of the water quality required for proper plant operation, an extra burden, as well as associated treatment costs, will therefore have to be placed on existing treatment processes to compensate for change in feed water quality.

Apart from increasing salt concentrations in raw waters, there are indications that NOM present in the water is also increasing. This is becoming a concern for industries requiring high purity water and a number of industries, including the power industry, have embarked on programmes to set a target value for TOC in demin water. Over the past few years, Eskom has studied alternative methods to reduce organic matter prior to demineralisation by optimising flocculation/coagulation processes. This research also included studies into advanced oxidation processes (catalysed UV, ozone and peroxide) and it was demonstrated that some degree of organic reduction could be achieved by employing these techniques.

Lowering the target value for TOC might have a negative impact on the costs of demineralised water production, especially if such a decision is not supported by scientific facts. An area that has been a topic of contention for quite some time is the fate of organic matter in steam/water circuits and the impact of these compounds and their breakdown products (organic acids and carbon dioxide) on materials of construction.

2

In this **chapter**, the water quality requirements and treatment processes as required for Eskom (the largest power utility in South Africa) are discussed, followed by the impact of NOM on these specifications and existing treatment processes.

## 1.1 DEMIN WATER SPECIFICATIONS AND TREATMENT PROCESSES EMPLOYED BY ESKOM

Modern high-pressure power generating plants require very high purity feed water to ensure plant integrity and to reduce the failure of plant components. Strict guidelines are enforced by the power industry with regard to make-up water quality (**Table 1.1**).<sup>1</sup>

Table 1.1: Demin water specifications	for	coal	fired	power	stations	measured	at
the mixed outlet							

	Parameter	Target	Limit
Turbidity (FTL	)	<0.1	0.2
Specific cond	uctivity (μS/cm @ 25 <sup>°</sup> C)	<0.08	0.1
Sodium	(µg/l as Na⁺)	<1	2
Silica	(μg/l as SiO₂)	ALARA	10
Chloride	(μg/l as Cl <sup>-</sup> )	<1	2
Sulphate	(μg/l as SO₄ <sup>2-</sup> )	<1	2
тос	(µg/i as C)	100	250

These specifications were developed over the years by institutions such as EPRI and the VGB and were traditionally limited to the inorganic species only, but recently the specifications were broaden to also include TOC values. These values were however chosen as guidelines only with the intention that they could be increased or decreased as more knowledge is gained with regard to the impact of organic contamination in plant systems.<sup>2,3,4,5,6</sup>

Eskom power plants obtain their water as surface water from mainly three river systems, namely the Komati, Usuthu and Vaal Rivers. The Komati River supplies Arnot, Hendrina and Duvha Power Stations. Kendal, Kriel and Matla's main supply is from the Usuthu River and Lethabo and Tutuka Power Stations get their water from the Vaal River. These systems are interlinked to form what is known as a transfer scheme and it is possible for stations to also get water blends from the various sources, however this is more the exception than the norm and is determined mainly by dam levels and conditions of severe drought.<sup>7</sup>

Various sources differs in quality (**Table 1.2**) and water treatment plants are designed with this in mind.

Pa	rameter	Komati	Usuthu	Vaal River
		River	River	
Turbidity	(FTU)	20.7	1.7	88.2
рН	(@ 25 °C)	8.06	8.55	7.93
Specific conductiv	rity (μS/cm @ 25 <sup>0</sup> C)	164	59	187
Sodium	(mg/l as Na <sup>⁺</sup> )	7.35	4.5	12.21
Potassium	(mg/l as K⁺)	1.23	2.0	4.02
Calcium	(mg/l as CaCO <sub>3</sub> )	11	12	37
Magnesium	(mg/l as CaCO₃)	10	10	36
Total hardness	(mg/l as CaCO <sub>3</sub> )	21	22	73
Total alkalinity	(mg/l as CaCO <sub>3</sub> )	66.8	19	65
Chloride	(mg/I as Cl <sup>-</sup> )	5.52	3.4	6.1
Sulphate	(mg/l as SO <sub>4</sub> <sup>2-</sup> )	12.36	5.8	11.9
Nitrate/Nitrite	(mg/I as N)	0.11	0.10	1.5
Phosphate	(mg/l as N)	0.15	0.2	0.2
Silica	(mg/I as SiO <sub>2</sub> )	7.6	1.2	23
OA	(mg/l O <sub>2</sub> )	10.1	2.3	15
тос	(mg/l as C)	4.8	5.9	5.2

Table 1.2: Average water quality from the Komati, Usuthu and Vaal rivers

A typical water treatment plant at Eskom power stations is shown in **Figure 1.1**. The exception to the rule is the Koeberg Nuclear Power Station that receives potable water from the Cape Metropoliton Council, which is then further treated on site to produce demin water.





These treatment plants are primarily designed to:

- Firstly remove the turbidity (suspended solids) from the raw water by flocculation and filtration and
- Secondly, to remove the dissolved or ionic inorganic and organic species from the water by demineralisation.

## 1.2 IMPACT OF NOM ON DEMINERALISATION PROCESSES

Although water demineralisation processes can cope very well with the removal of ionic inorganic compounds from raw water, the removal of organic species poses a greater problem. Most demineralisation processes can remove organics to a certain degree, but fouling of the anion exchange resin (reversible as well as irreversible fouling) normally occurs during this process.<sup>8,9,10</sup>

The majority of NOM present in natural waters is acidic in nature and is therefore only partly removed by cation exchange resins. These compounds are however strongly absorbed by anion exchange resins. It has been postulated that the removal of organic compounds by anion exchange resins can take place by either electrostatic forces and ion exchange or adsorption onto the resin matrix via van der Waal's forces or a combination of the two mechanisms (**Figure 1.2**).<sup>9,11</sup>



(1) Removal by ion exchange



(2) Removal by van der Waals forces



#### (3) Removal by both mechanisms

Figure 1.2: Various mechanisms for the removal of organic matter by ion exchange

During the regeneration process (caustic for anion exchange resin) the organic compounds are not completely removed due to the high affinity of the resin for the organic molecules. Gradual fouling of the resin takes place over a period of time and the resin starts to show the following symptoms:<sup>8,9</sup>

- The rinse water requirements increase,
- The carboxyl groups of the organic compounds interact with the Na<sup>+</sup> ion of the caustic to form sodium carboxylate (Figure 2.2) which eventually hydrolyses back to the free acid releasing sodium ions into the product water,
- Gradual increase in product water conductivity and decrease in pH due to organic acid leakage,
- Gradual silica leakage,
- A gradual decline in exchange capacity over a period of time and
- Shortened operating times.

To overcome this problem, caustic brine washes need to be carried out from time to time and the frequency of these cleanup procedures will increase with increasing fouling levels.

The phenomenon of sodium and TOC leakage from fouled anion exchange resin can clearly be seen from results that were obtained from a

7

demineralisation unit at Matimba Power Station which had a design specification of 9 MI (Figures 1.3 and 1.4).



Figure 3: Sodium leakage levels from various stages in the demineralisation proce

Figure 1.3: Sodium leakage levels from various stages in the demin process



Figure 1.4: TOC leakage levels from various stages in the demin process

Those organics that are not removed (usually colloids), normally find their way into the steam/water circuit where they are decomposed through thermohydrolytic processes into carbon dioxide, short chain organic acids and inorganic species associated with the original organic compounds.<sup>8,9</sup> The impact of these transformations will be discussed in more detail in the following **section**.

## 1.3 THE FATE OF ORGANICS IN STEAM/WATER CYCLES

Owing to the high operating temperatures and pressures, there is an everincreasing need to maintain the highest purity in the cycle fluid of modern power plants. In addition to the minimisation of inorganic impurities in the steam/water cycle, it has been recognised that the presence of organic compounds can contribute to the impurities in the power plant cycle chemistry.<sup>12,13,14,15,16</sup> Inorganic species can typically be present in the steam at concentrations in the very low ppb range whereas organic species at concentrations near 100 ppb have been reported.<sup>12</sup>

There are a large number of possible sources and pathways through which organic matter can enter the steam/water cycle of a power plant:

- Make up water,
- Ion exchange resin,
- Condenser inleakage,
- Pre-operational preservatives,
- Bacteria,
- Lubricating oil,
- Water treatment and
- Chemical cleaning.

Of all these sources, the raw water is the most likely source of contamination. Ion exchange resin can produce water that appears to be very pure from a conductivity measurement point of view, however most organic compounds show little or no electric conductance. The product water can still be polluted with organic contamination as discussed under **Section 1.2**.

It is generally accepted that organic matter will undergo thermal decomposition upon entering the steam/water circuit forming carbon dioxide and lower molecular weight organic acids. Superheated steam often contains low concentrations of volatile acids which can range from sub-ppb to ppb levels.<sup>4,5,6,15,17,18,19,20,21</sup>

In many cases inorganic compounds associated with the organic molecules will also be released in the form of inorganic acids. Organics in the raw water for instance, will react with chlorine during the treatment process forming halogenated organic compounds that are not removed by the ion exchange process. When decomposed, these organics will not only form the lower molecular weight organic acids and carbon dioxide, but also hydrochloric acid. This will give rise to a lowering of the pH and increase in conductivity in the regions of first condensate formation on the low pressure stage of the turbine.<sup>18,19</sup> It is these regions that are more susceptible to acidic attack.

Although steam/water circuits are operated at an alkaline pH level through the addition of ammonia (pH 8.9-9.2), localised corrosion in the turbine can occur in the region of first condensation (the so-called Wilson line). The first condensation "washes" all volatile impurities out of the steam, provided that the distribution coefficients of these impurities between the liquid phase and steam phase are small. Hydrochloric acid, sulphuric acid, acetic acid, silicic acid etc have low distribution coefficients and hydrochloric acid concentrations as high as 20 % have been reported in water droplets present in the first condensate. The distribution coefficient of the ammonia is such that it stays in the steam phase and is therefore not able to effectively neutralise these acids.<sup>17,19</sup>

Although most organic acids are relatively weak acids (weaker than inorganic acids), they are sufficiently ionised to corrode certain metals. *Bodmer*<sup>17</sup> has shown how a mixture of organic acids (including acetic acid) has contributed to stress corrosion cracking of a 60 MW<sub>e</sub> turbine. The organic acids were breakdown products originating from the NOM present in the surface water that was used for demin production.

To illustrate the breakdown products that could be derived from demin water, a sample of demin water from Kriel Power Station was subjected to photocatalytic

decomposition. Ion chromatographic analyses, for which the results are given in **Table 1.3**, were performed on the sample before and after oxidation.<sup>21</sup>

IONIC SPECIES	CONCENTRATION PRIOR TO OXIDATION (ppb)	CONCENTRATION AFTER OXIDATION (ppb)
Chloride	8	24
Nitrite	<0.1	<0.1
Nitrate	0.2	30
Bromide	<0.1	2
Sulphate	6	17
Oxalate	<0.1	18

 Table 1.3: Increase in ionic species concentration after photocatalytic oxidation

 of demineralised water

There was a marked increase in the concentrations of the chloride, nitrate and sulphate concentrations after oxidation. These ions were associated with the organic compounds, but were undetected by standard chemical techniques.

Further evidence of organic breakdown under pressure and temperature was collected from Kendal Power Station, which has a history of TOC related problems since commissioning. The following observations were made:

- Polysaccharides originating from algal and cellular material and which could be associated with amino acids and proteins are present in the raw water,
- The polysaccharides have a negative influence on the performance of the demineralisation plant's ability to remove TOC (even after a brine wash) although the feed water to the plant has a relatively low TOC concentration (**Table 1.4**) and
- A relatively high TOC concentration in the superheated steam which was accompanied with a high cation conductivity.

 Table 1.4: TOC removal before and after brine wash of ion exchange resin at

 Kendal Power Station

SAMPLE POINT	TOC BEFORE BRINE	TOC AFTER BRINE
	(ppb)	(ppb)
Cation inlet	1230	1400
Cation outlet	1340	1390
Weak base outlet	1170	571
Strong base outlet	496	385
Mixed bed outlet	481	380

The brine treatment included a brine wash of the mixed bed, but as the results in **Table 1.4** indicate, the treatment had little effect on the performance of the mixed bed resin and an overall drop in TOC concentration of only 100 ppb could be achieved. This was mainly due to the marginal improvement in the performance of the strong base ion exchange resin. There was however a vast improvement in the performance of the weak base anion resin. From the results it is also clear that before the brine wash, loading of TOC onto the strong base occurred.



Figure 1.5: TOC concentration versus cation conductivity in superheated steam

From **Figure 1.5** it appears that there is a strong correlation between the cation conductivity and the TOC concentration in the superheated steam. Chloride and sulphate concentration for this particular situation was within specification

and did not contribute significantly to the cation conductivity. Although no speciation of the TOC was carried out, it is safe to conclude that the organic compounds were sufficiently ionised as to impact on the cation conductivity.

### 1.4 THE NATURE AND ORIGIN OF NOM

NOM is present in all natural water sources and is as a result of the decay of vegetal matter. It is normally quantified and expressed as TOC, which is defined as the sum of the dissolved organic carbon (DOC), non-purgeable organic carbon (NPOC), particulate organic carbon (POC) and volatile organic carbon (VOC) fractions.<sup>12,22</sup>

The DOC fraction consists of humic and fulvic acids (collectively known as humic substances and is the predominant fraction of NOM), which are high molecular polyfunctional weak organic acids.<sup>9</sup> Humic substances are responsible for the brown or yellow colour in surface waters containing high levels of NOM (10-30 mg/l C). By definition, DOC is classified as that fraction of humic substances that can pass through a 0.45  $\mu$ m filter. They contribute to 5-10 % of all anionic species in natural waters and their anionic character is due to the dissociation of carboxylic acid groups. Calcium and sodium ions are normally the counterions associated with the negative groups. When phenolic groups are present, metal ions can chelate or bond to the structure.<sup>23</sup> Humic substances can be divided into three main groups of organic compounds:<sup>24</sup>

- Humic acid: that fraction of humic substances that is not soluble in water under acidic conditions (pH < 2.0),</li>
- *Fulvic acid:* that fraction that is soluble in water under all pH conditions and finally
- *Humin:* That fraction that is not soluble in water at any pH level.

The presence of humic substances in natural waters is undesirable for a number of reasons:<sup>23</sup>

- They possess ion exchange properties,
- They can act as a transport mechanism for toxic, water insoluble compounds,
- They react with chlorine to form chlorinated organic compounds such as THM's,
- They stabilise dispersed and colloidal particles during coagulation processes
   and
- They can precipitate in water distribution systems.

The presence of organic compounds can therefore, based on the above, have a major impact on the performance of a water treatment plant.

# CHAPTER 2:

# NOM REMOVAL TECHNIQUES

, ·

The levels of organic matter in water can be minimised by either removal or destruction. The removal of organics can be achieved through processes such as adsorption, separation and sedimentation and include technologies such as:

- Flocculation and clarification,
- Membrane processes,
- lon exchange,
- Filtration and
- Activated carbon.

The destruction of organic matter is normally achieved through oxidation (catalytic, oxidation agents or thermal) processes which include technologies such as:

- Ozonation (O<sub>3</sub>),
- Hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>),
- Sonochemistry,
- Photocatalytic oxidation,
- Supercritical water oxidation and
- Anodic oxidation.

All of the aforementioned techniques can either be employed on their own or can be used in combination with each other. For the purposes of this study, the following techniques were chosen to compare their efficacy in removing/minimising a model humic substance from water:

- Coagulation and flocculation,
- Photochemical oxidation,
- H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> oxidation and
- Anodic oxidation.

This chapter will describe each one of the selected technologies in more detail.

### 2.1 COAGULATION AND FLOCCULATION

#### 2.1.1 Basic principles of coagulation and flocculation

The coagulation and flocculation treatment is normally employed where suspended solids (turbidity) need to be removed from water. This in principle, involves the addition of chemicals (coagulants) to the water with rapid mixing and the settling of the flocs (larger particles) under gravity to produce a lower turbidity water.<sup>26,27</sup>

Suspended particles or colloids in water normally carry a negative electrical charge, Zeta potential (the measure of the force that indicates how closely particles can approach each other), which keeps the particles apart. These particles or colloids also have van der Waal's forces acting between them that tend to pull the particles together. As long as the Zeta potential is greater than the van der Waal's forces, the particles will stay in suspension. If, on the other hand, the van der Waal's forces exceed the Zeta potential, the suspended matter will be attracted to each other and combine to form larger, heavier particles (the flocs) that can grow in size and eventually sink to the bottom of the containment.<sup>26,27,28</sup>

Due to the negative character of the suspended matter, coagulant chemicals are invariably positively charged metal ions that destabilise the net charge on the particles, forcing them to be attracted to each other. The metal ions commonly used in water treatment are the sulphate and chloride salts of trivalent aluminium ( $Al^{3+}$ ) and iron (Fe<sup>3+</sup>).<sup>26,28</sup>

Since alum is more commonly used in water treatment, its interaction on suspended matter will be considered.<sup>27,28,29</sup> When alum is added to the water to be treated, it will undergo hydrolysis to form a series of multivalent hydrous oxide species (a similar scheme exists for Fe<sup>3+</sup>):

 $[AI(H_2O)_5]^{3+} + H_2O \iff [AI(H_2O)_5OH]^{2+} + H_3O^{3+}$  $[AI(H_2O)_5OH]^{2+} + H_2O \iff [AI(H_2O)_4(OH)_2]^{+} + H_3O^{3+}$ 

This reaction will continue until the neutral species,  $[Al(H_2O)_3(OH)_3]$  has been formed, which is insoluble in water. The positively charged hydrated aluminium ions can thus effectively destabilise the negative charge on the suspended matter. This normally occurs within one or two seconds after the chemical has been added to the water. At this point, the particles start to come together to form tiny floc particles, which eventually grow to form the larger heavier flocs that settle out. The process is generally affected by the alkalinity of the water, since the available Al<sup>3+</sup> concentration depends on the hydroxyl portion of the compounds that constitutes the alkalinity. In low alkalinity waters, the alkalinity might have to be increased prior to the flocculation process to increase efficiency.

The process can be further enhanced by the addition of coagulant aids such as organic polymers (cationic, anionic and non-ionic) which help in the formation of heavier, more settleable flocs. The most common of these are the cationic polymers for the obvious reason to assist in the destabilisation of the negative charge that exists on the suspended matter.

#### 2.1.2 The role of coagulation and flocculation in the removal of NOM

Although the coagulation/flocculation/clarification process has traditionally been used to clarify turbid water, it has also been recognised to remove organic matter from raw water to a large degree.<sup>27,28,30,31,32,33,34</sup> In this application, the process is termed as *"Enhanced coagulation"* and has been referred to by the USEPA as the *"Best generally available technique"* in the reduction of THM formation which forms as a result of the reaction between chlorine and the residual organic matter in the water.<sup>28</sup> The process involves the addition of excess dosing of coagulant chemicals, over and above the amount required to achieve optimum clarification, in order to reduce NOM to a minimum.

The NOM removal process by enhanced coagulation, according to *Jacangelo et al*<sup>30</sup>, involves:

- Colloid destabilisation accompanied by charge neutralisation,
- Precipitation and
- Coprecipitation.

NOM comprises particulate matter and DOC. The particulate matter will be removed by colloid destabilisation whilst the DOC portion is removed by precipitation or coprecipitation. The authors also proposed a model by which the NOM coagulation process can be characterised (**Table 2.1**).

From the model, it is clear that NOM characterisation, treatment selection and plant optimisation are the key elements in the effective removal of NOM by coagulation and flocculation.

*Rebhun et al*<sup>34</sup> demonsrated that NOM promotes floc formation of mineral particulates and vice versa when the flocculant demand is determined by the NOM present. In a publication by *Croue et al*<sup>32</sup> it was shown that 32 to 47 % of DOC (measured by UV absorbance at 254 nm) could be removed by coagulation and flocculation. More recent work indicated that removal levels in excess of 70 % could be achieved.<sup>35</sup> for TOC levels of up to 10 ppm. The reason for the improvement in the removal of the DOC levels is not known at this stage, however it is thought be due to the improvement of water treatment chemicals, NOM characteristics or improved plant optimisation or a combination of these factors.

Parameter	Results
Interaction	
NOM + $H^+$	Precipitation of humic acid if pH = 1; enhanced
	coagulation effective up to a point beyond which protons
	inhibit interaction between NOM and metal hydrolysis
	products, render NOM molecules smaller in size and
	more hydrophobic, enhance GAC adsorption
NOM + metal hydrolysis	Precipitation of NOM whose solubility is exceeded;
products	adsorption of NOM on metal hydroxide solids; some
	anions (OH and $SO_4^{2}$ ) interfere by competing for sites;
	cations able to bind to NOM can replace metal
	hydrolysis products, reducing coagulant dosing demand
NOM + cation	Precipitation of NOM whose solubility is exceeded;
	reduction in the concentration of metal hydrolysis
	products needed for precipitation or coagulation
NOM characteristic	
Increased hydrophobicity	Increased removal
More binding sites per	Increased removal; greater coagulant demand; sharper
molecule	increase in removal as coagulant dosage increases
Higher molecular weight	Increased removal
Increased heterogeneity	A more gradual increase in removal as dosage
	increases
Treatment	
Coagulation	Remove larger molecular weight and more hydrophobic
	NOM; extended activated carbon bed life, reduced gel
	formation on membranes, reduced oxidant demand
Ozonation-oxidation	Decrease hydrophobicity, decrease molecular weight;
	could hinder or assist coagulation
Softening	Removes much of the coagulable NOM by precipitation
	and co-precipitation

Table 2.1: Conceptual model of NOM coagulation

### 2.2 PHOTOCATALYTIC OXIDATION

The use of photocatalytic processes for the oxidation of organic pollutants and for the disinfection of potable water is becoming a popular technology in water treatment. The process generally involves the formation of the highly reactive hydroxyl radical (OH•). The OH• radical has a much stronger oxidising potential compared to other more common oxidising agents (**Table 2.2**) and is second in reactivity when compared to fluorine.<sup>36</sup>

Species	Volts
Fluoride	3.0
Hydroxyl radical	2.8
Ozone	2.1
Hydrogen peroxide	1.8
Potassium permanganate	1.7
Hypochlorous acid	1.5
Chlorine dioxide	1.5
Chlorine	1.4
Oxygen	1.2

Table 2.2. Comparative Oxidation potential
--

The photocatalytic process occurs during the excitation of an active surface by photo-radiation. During the process electrons are transferred from the valence band to the conductance band of light active species. This transfer of an electron leaves a hole (h+) in the valence band and subsequently creates a negative charge (e') in conductance band (**Figure 2.2**). The separation between the highest energy level in the valence band and the lowest energy level in the conductance band is known as the band gap. The band gap corresponds to the threshold wavelength (minimum photo energy) at which promotion of the electron will take place. The formation of the h+/e' pair results in the creation of a redox reaction, providing that the reaction occurs prior to the electron back transfer.<sup>37,36</sup>





Figure 2.2: A typical semiconductor particle cell

Oxidation of a suitable donor will take place at the holes or valence band while the reduction of a species will take place at the conductance band.

**Figure 2.2** illustrates how the dissolved oxygen in the water can take up the electrons at the conductance band to form a superoxide ion  $(O_2^-)$  which will readily convert in the water to the OH• radical.<sup>38</sup> Many organic compounds have redox potentials that are higher than the valence band edge of most semiconductors and they can therefore act as electron donors at the valence band region where they will be oxidised. It is this characteristic of organic compounds that makes photocatalytic oxidation a suitable technique for the destruction of undesirable organics.<sup>38,39</sup>

A large number of metal oxide coatings can be used to create the active surface, however titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>) powders have proven to be quite successful for the treatment of organically polluted water and air. The wavelength most commonly used is in the UV range.  ${}^{37,38,39,40,41}$ 

Although numerous kinetic equations have been proposed for the oxidation rates of the various pollutants, it has been recognised that there are number of factors that influence the reaction mechanisms and rate constants. Some of these include:<sup>38</sup>

- The rate of photo absorption at a given wavelength,
- The quantum yield of h<sup>\*</sup>/e' generation,
- The rate of recombination of electrons and holes,
- The number of active sites and
- The lifetime of the radicals.

Based on these uncertainties, studies are still underway to determine the exact pathways by which most of these compounds are being oxidised. As the purpose of this **study** is not to determine the mechanisms and pathways of the various oxidation processes, a simplified approach will be adopted.

# 2.2.2 Application of photocatalysis in the oxidation of organic matter in water

Organic contamination in water has traditionally been removed by separation processes such as:

- Adsorption by activated carbon,
- lon exchange,
- Air stripping and
- Flocculation.

However, these technologies suffer from the disadvantage that they merely transfer the organic compounds from one phase to another, raising the issue of how to dispose of the waste. Oxidation or mineralisation of the organics on the other hand, results in the formation of CO<sub>2</sub>, water and small amounts of acids. A further advantage of photocatalytic oxidation of organic pollutants is that the process operates at or near ambient temperature and pressure.<sup>42</sup>

The mineralisation or decomposition of a large number of organic compounds has already been studied and a summary of the results has been published by *Pichat*.<sup>38</sup>

These compounds include:

- Alkanes, alkenes and halogenated derivatives,
- Alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, ethers and esters,
- Substituted aromatic compounds,
- Pyridine
- Chlorinated biphenyls,
- Dyes and
- Surfactants.

Halogens, sulphur and bromide are converted to the corresponding mineral acids. (See Section 1.3, Table 1.3).

As has been shown previously (**Section 2.2.1, Figure 2.2**) the conductance band reaction (reduction) with oxygen and water yields the OH• radical. A very simplified mechanism for both the conductance band and valence band reactions has been described by *Pichat*:<sup>39</sup>

 $O_2^{-\bullet} + H^+$  (from water dissociation)  $\Leftrightarrow HO_2 \bullet (pK_a = 4.8)$   $2 HO_2^{\bullet} \rightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$   $H_2O_2 + O_2^{-\bullet} \rightarrow OH \bullet + OH^- + O_2$  $H_2O_2 + e' \rightarrow OH \bullet + OH^-$ 

(It should be noted that this reaction is pH dependant.).

The valence band reaction (oxidation) has been described by the following reaction:

$$H_2O + h^+ \rightarrow OH \bullet + H^+$$
  
 $OH^- + h^+ \rightarrow OH \bullet$ 

Based on the above, two further simplified versions of the oxidation/mineralisation of organic compounds by photocatalysis, which has been demonstrated by *Anderson*<sup>43</sup> and *Kerzhentsev et al*<sup>44</sup> respectively, are given:

 $CH_3CH_2OH \rightarrow CH_3CHO \rightarrow CH_3CHO_2 \rightarrow CO_2$ 

$$C_9H_{12}O_5NPS + 13/2O_2 \rightarrow 9CO_2 + 3H_2O + NO_3^{-1} + SO_4^{-2} + H_2PO_4^{-1} + 4H^{+1}$$

### 2.3 ELECTROCHEMICAL OXIDATION

The electrochemical oxidation of aqueous organic compounds comprises the oxidation of the organic material at the anode. This oxidation can lead to the complete mineralisation (to CO<sub>2</sub>) of the material or a degree of mineralisation accompanied by the formation of new carbon containing compounds. It has been reported that the degree of TOC reduction by electrochemical methods is higher than that obtained by chemical oxidation techniques.<sup>45,46</sup> as with chemical oxidation techniques, the electrochemical oxidation technique also result in the formation of intermediate products.<sup>47</sup>

*Comnellis et al*<sup>46</sup> reported that the oxidation products formed during chemical and electrochemical oxidation are almost identical and concluded that both reactions occur via the same mechanism. The mechanism can be summarised as the electrophilic attack of the OH• radical on the organic compound or its oxidation products. The mechanism for the electrochemical oxidation process on the electrode surface involves the following three steps:
#### Radical formation

 $2H_2O \rightarrow 2OH \bullet + 2H^+ + 2e^{2}$ 

• The OH• radicals are adsorbed on the surface of the electrode where it reacts with the organic compound or with water to produce oxygen

```
Org + OH• \rightarrow oxidation product (Rate 1) or
2OH• \rightarrow H<sub>2</sub>O + 1/2O<sub>2</sub> (Rate 2)
```

• The adsorption of the organic compound on the electrode surface where it will be oxidised to CO<sub>2</sub>

 $Org \rightarrow CO_2 + H_2O$  (*Rate 3*)

The rates 1 to 3 strongly depends on the anode material used.

A number of electrolytic catalysts such as metal oxide have been identified that can oxidise organic matter through anodic oxidation, which include:<sup>47,48</sup>

- Titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>)
- Manganese dioxide (MnO<sub>2</sub>)
- Cobalt oxide (Co<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>)
- Iron oxide (Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>)
- Chrome oxide (Cr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>)
- Copper oxide (CuO)
- Tin oxide (SnO<sub>2</sub>)
- Antimony oxide (SbO<sub>2</sub>)
- Vanadium pentoxide (V<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>) and
- Platinum and platinum alloys.

The efficiency of the electrochemical oxidation processes depends on a number of factors, which include:<sup>49</sup>

• Choice of electrode material,

- Current densities,
- Concentration of the pollutant,
- pH of the solution and
- Salt concentration of the solution.

# CHAPTER 3:

### **EXPERIMENTAL METHODS**

'n

The humic acid substance considered for this study was a sodium salt of humic acid of which a 10 mg/l (as total C) solution of the substance was used in all experiments. The choice for the specific humic acid used was purely based on the fact that it was readily available. A 1000 ppm stock solution was prepared from the pure compound in demin water. All test solutions were diluted from the concentrated stock solution. This **chapter** will detail the steps followed in preparing the test solutions, the technologies employed to reduce the humic acid concentration and the analytical techniques used to determine the efficiency of the reduction process.

#### 3.1 PREPARATION OF HUMIC ACID STOCK SOLUTION

1 g of the humic acid compound was dissolved in demin water and the undissolved phase was filtered off through a 0.45  $\mu$ m membrane filter by means of vacuum filtration. The TOC concentration of the stock solution was determined by means of an ASTRO<sup>®</sup> 2100 TOC analyser. The sample was combusted at a temperature of 600 °C in a stream of ultra high purity oxygen (99.999 %). The carbon content was determined as CO<sub>2</sub> by an infra-red detector. All analyses were performed in triplicate.

A 10 mg/l as TOC humic acid working solution was prepared by the appropriate dilution of the stock solution in demin water.

#### 3.2 CHARACTERISATION OF THE SOLID HUMIC SUBSTANCE

Approximately 100 mg of the solid humic acid substance was analysed by a  $LECO^{\text{®}}$  CHN-1000 analyser to determine the % carbon, hydrogen and nitrogen composition of the substance. The sample was combusted at a temperature of 1050 °C in a stream of ultra pure (99,999%) oxygen. The liberated hydrogen and carbon (as CO<sub>2</sub>) gases were analysed by an infra-red detector, whilst the nitrogen gas was analysed by a thermal conductive detector. A maximum detection time of 5 minutes was allowed. Five replicate samples were analysed.

A further sample of the compound was ashed at 900 °C and the residue was subjected to elemental analysis by means of a SEM.

#### 3.3 ANALYSIS OF THE WORKING SOLUTION BY HPLC

Although the initial intention was to follow the removal or oxidation of the humic acid concentration and the formation of oxidation by-products by HPLC, no suitable method for this purpose could be found. It was recommended<sup>50</sup> to replace the HPLC method by spectrophotometric measurements at 254 nm and 430 nm. The costs for developing a suitable HPLC method would have been in the order of R 100 000 and no guarantee could be given that a fully validated method would be completed within one year. This had a major impact on the study as inferred methods of quantification had to be used and the identification and quantification of intermediate/by-products could not be carried out.

#### 3.4 UV/VIS CALIBRATION CURVES

A series of calibration standards were prepared from the humic acid stock solution to cover a range from 0.5 to 10 ppm as TOC. A quartz glass sample cuvette with a pathlength of 1 cm was filled with the calibration solution. The absorbance of the solution was measured at a wavelength of 430 nm (visible range) and 254 nm (UV range) respectively using a Phillips<sup>®</sup> PU-8700 UV/Visible spectrophotometer. Two calibration curves were constructed. One each for the different wavelengths.<sup>50,51</sup>

#### 3.5 COD ANALYSIS

A 10 000 ppm COD stock solution was prepared by dissolving 8.503 g of potassium hydrogen phthalate (dried at  $120^{\circ}$  C) in 1000 ml of demin water. From the stock solution a series of calibration standards ranging from 50 to 300 ppm were prepared. The standards and samples analyses were carried out by

means of a SKALAR SAN+<sup>™</sup> flow injection analyser equipped with a data handling station.

# 3.6 REDUCTION OF HUMIC ACID BY COAGULATION/FLOCCULATION

1 liter samples containing 10 ppm humic acid (as TOC) solution were poured into glass beakers, which were placed in a jar test apparatus (Phipps and Bird<sup>®</sup>) equipped with mechanical stirrers. Bentonite was added to each beaker to give a resultant turbidity of 20 NTU to resemble the turbidity of average surface water.

The flocculant (alum) was added at various concentrations to the water and the solution was "flash" mixed for 1 minute at about 120 rpm followed by a slow mix for 20 minutes to allow floc formation. The floc was allowed to settle without stirring for an additional 20 minutes. An aliquot was removed from just below the water line<sup>52</sup> for TOC, UV/VIS and COD analysis. The experiment was carried out in triplicate at three pH levels (pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9).

# 3.7 REDUCTION OF HUMIC ACID BY PHOTO-OXIDATION

### 3.7.1 Photo-Oxidation By UV Alone

A 200 ml sample containing 10 mg/l humic acid (as TOC) was placed in a glass reactor (**Figure 3.1**) equipped with a low pressure UV lamp with wave length of 254 nm. Samples were exposed to the UV radiation for 5, 10 15 and 20 minute time periods whilst mechanically being stirred by a magnetic stirrer. At the end of the variuos time periods, the samples were analysed by UV/VIS, TOC and COD techniques. The experiment was carried out in triplicate at three pH levels (pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9).



Figure 3.1: UV reactor

#### 3.7.2 Photocatalytic Reduction Of Humic Acid

A similar procedure as described in **Section 3.5.1** was followed. In this case the inside of the glass reactor was covered with a  $TiO_2$  coated mesh which acted as a catalyst.

#### 3.8 CHEMICAL OXIDATION BY HYDROGEN PEROXIDE

 $H_2O_2$  was added to 1 liter humic acid solution (10 mg/l as TOC) and mechanically stirred for until no residual  $H_2O_2$  could be detected. The presence of  $H_2O_2$  was determined by using MERCK<sup>TM</sup> test strips. The  $H_2O_2$  concentration was varied between 10 and 200 ppm. The solution was finally analysed by UV/VIS, TOC and COD techniques. The experiment was carried out in triplicate at three pH levels (pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9).

#### 3.9 REDUCTION OF HUMIC ACID BY ANODIC OXIDATION

The humic acid solution was passed through an anodic oxidation chamber (**Figure 3.2**)<sup>53</sup> and the permeate was collected for TOC, UV/VIS and COD analyses. The anode was covered with a platinum catalyst and a constant potential of 2.5 volt was applied over the electrodes. The flow rate of the humic acid solution was varied between 100 and 400 l/m<sup>2</sup>/h. The experiment was carried out in triplicate at three pH levels (pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9).



Figure 3.2: Schematic of flat electro-membrane reactor

# CHAPTER 4:

# **RESULTS**

In this chapter the results obtained will be given and discussed in detail.

#### 4.1 CHARACTERISATION OF THE SOLID HUMIC SUBSTANCE

The major chemical composition of the solid humic and the results of the ash elemental analysis is given in **Tables 4.1** and **4.2** respectively.

Component	Concentration (%)
Inherent moisture	17.5
Ash	22.9
Carbon	39.9
Nitrogen	0.52
Hydrogen	2.57
Total sulphur	0.38
Oxygen	14.03
Carbonate (as CO <sub>2</sub> )	2.20
Total	100.00

Table 4.1: Major composition of the solid humic substance

 Table 4.2:Ash elemental analysis

Component	Concentration (%)
Silicon (as SiO <sub>2</sub> )	11.8
Aluminium (as Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> )	3.7
Iron (as Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3)</sub>	20.7
Titanium (as TiO <sub>2</sub> )	0.5
Calcium (CaO)	12.17
Magnesium (MgO)	4.95
Sodium (as Na <sub>2</sub> O)	37.1
Sulphur (as SO <sub>3</sub> )	8.49
Managanese (as MnO)	0.31
Total	99.72

The insoluble phase observed during the preparation of the stock solution can be attributed to the high mineral content (ash) of the humic substance. This was the main reason for expressing the humic acid concentration in terms of TOC, as it was not possible to prepare accurate humic acid concentrations from the solid substance.

#### 4.2 UV/VIS CALIBRATION CURVES

**Figures 4.1** and **4.2** depict the calibration curves at 430 nm and 254 nm respectively. These curves were used to measure the residual humic acid concentrations after the various treatment techniques.



Figure 4.1: Humic acid calibration curve at 430 nm



Figure 4.2: Humic acid calibration curve at 254 nm

Both calibration curves showed excellent linearity over the working range for which it was intended. The absorbances measured in the UV range (254 nm) were much more sensitive (38.8 times) than those obtained in the visible range (430 nm). This can be attributed to the fact that the absorbance at 254 nm is an indication of the total DOC whilst the measurement at 430 nm is more an indication of the colour of the solution due to the humic acid concentration.

#### 4.3 HUMIC ACID REDUCTION BY FLOCCULATION

The results of the humic acid reduction terms of TOC, UV/VIS absorbance and COD by means of flocculation are depicted in **Figures 4.3** to **4.6**.



**Figure 4.3:** TOC reduction as a function of alum concentration at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9



**Figure 4.4:** Humic acid reduction (DOC) as a function of alum concentration measured at 254 nm for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9



**Figure 4.5:** Humic acid reduction (colour) as a function of alum concentration measured at 430 nm for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9



**Figure 4.6:** COD reduction as a function of alum concentration for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

The TOC measurement and both spectrophotometric measurements showed that maximum humic acid removal was achieved at a neutral to alkaline pH range although the solution at a pH of 9 required more alum to show a significant change. This can be attributed to the fact that excess alum was initially required to neutralise the alkalinity before effective floc formation could be achieved. This observation is supported by results published by  $Hecht^{54}$ . The significantly lower efficiency in humic acid removal at pH = 4 through the

coagulation/flocculation process can most properly be attributed to the explanation given by *Jacangelo et al*<sup>30</sup> and which is summarised in **Table 2.1**: "...enhanced coagulation is effective up to a point beyond which protons inhibits interaction between NOM and metal hydrolysis products."

The results depicted in **Figures 4.3** to **4.4** also show a strong correlation between TOC measurements and spectrophotometric measurements as a means to analyse for humic acid concentrations.

The results obtained for the COD reduction as a function of alum concentration did not show any significant differences in the efficiency of the coagulation process at various pH levels. It should however be pointed out that the correlation between TOC and COD has been reported to be generally very poor<sup>55</sup>. No comparisons in terms of curve shapes, rate of reduction and direct concentrations of the residual analyte should be made without recognising the fact that TOC and COD are measuring different species. The former is an indication of carbon concentration due to total organic compound concentration and the latter is an indication of the ease of oxidation of the species present in the water (this can also include inorganic compounds, especially metal ions).

The good correlation in terms of the maximum level of organic reduction showed by all four the measuring techniques used, is primarily due to the fact that the flocculation process is a physical removal process in which the organic matter is removed from the water. As the test solutions were prepared demin water, no other species were present that could influence the measurements.

From the results (**Figures 4.3** to **4.6**) it can also be seen that for the test solutions having a turbidity of 20 NTU and a humic acid concentration of 10 mg/l (as TOC) there would be little advantage to increase the alum concentration (both from a financial and efficiency point of view) beyond 20 mg/l. This will however change with changing water quality, especially where TOC/turbidity ratios and TOC/alkalinity ratios varies as is the case with natural waters where these ratios are source and seasonally dependant.

#### 4.4 HUMIC ACID REDUCTION BY CHEMICAL OXIDATION

**Figures 4.7** to **4.10** shows the results obtained for the reduction in humic acid in terms of TOC, UV/VIS and COD.



**Figure 4.7:** TOC reduction as a function of  $H_2O_2$  concentration for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

The results depicted in **Figure 4.7** indicate that the addition of  $H_2O_2$  has led to the oxidation of the organic matter and that a degree of mineralisation of the organic substance to  $CO_2$  has taken place. There is also strong evidence that interaction of the peroxide on the humic substance was strongly pH dependant. The higher the pH, the higher the degree of mineralisation, which indicates that OH• formation took place more readily in an basic environment and which is supported by literature<sup>39,46</sup> (Section 2.2.2 and 2.3).



**Figure 4.8:** Humic acid reduction (DOC) as a function of  $H_2O_2$  concentration measured at 254 nm for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9



**Figure 4.9:** Humic acid reduction (colour) as a function of  $H_2O_2$  concentration measured at 430 nm for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

Both spectrophotometric determinations showed about the same degree of humic acid removal and the percentage reduction showed an almost linear response to the concentrations of  $H_2O_2$  added. The degree of humic acid reduction as colour and as DOC was much lower than that experienced with the coagulation process. However it supports the findings in terms of TOC reduction (**Figure 4.7**) and is further evidence that a high degree of mineralisation within the peroxide dosing range could not be achieved. The

conversion of the initial complex humic acid structure to lower molecular weight organic compounds such as organic acids should not be ruled out and should be considered as a strong possibility (**Chapter 2**). The concentration and type of intermediates formed was however beyond the scope of this study. The spectrophotometric analysis did however not show any pH dependence on the degree of humic acid reduction and can most probably be attributed to the formation of the intermediates and the fact that these measuring techniques are not species specific. Based on this, one should at this stage be careful to try and distinguish between humic acid reduction and organic reduction. For this reason, all spectrophotometric results reported from here onwards will refer to percentage organic reduction.



**Figure 4.10:** COD reduction as a function of  $H_2O_2$  concentration for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

Figure 4.10 shows a very high degree of COD reduction, but it should not be compared to the similar high degree of reduction as reported in Section 4.3, Figure 4.6 where the COD reduction was primarily due to the physical removal of the humic substance from the water. The results reported in Figure 4.10 are merely a confirmation that residual organic compounds are present as lower molecular mass organic intermediates, which can be more readily oxidised by the hot chromic acid solution used in the COD determination as was the case with the untreated humic acid solution.

#### 4.5 HUMIC ACID REDUCTION BY PHOTO/PHOTO-CATALYTIC OXIDATION

#### 4.5.1 Humic Acid Reduction By Photo-Oxidation

**Figures 4.11** to **4.14** show the results obtained for the reduction in organic substances in terms of TOC, UV/VIS and COD through UV radiation at 254 nm.



**Figure 4.11:** TOC reduction as a function of UV exposure time for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

Very poor TOC removal was observed when the humic acid solution was subjected to UV radiation. At this low level of TOC reduction, no strong pH dependency could be observed although the results do indicate a very marginal increase in TOC reduction with increasing pH. It was expected that OH• formation would occur more readily in basic solutions (**Chapter 2**).



**Figure 4.12:** Organic reduction (DOC) as a function of UV exposure time measured at 254 nm for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

There was a steady increase in the degree of the reduction of the organic compound concentration with increasing exposure time as can be seen from **Figure 4.12**. The results do show pH dependency, ie the higher the pH, the higher the degree of reduction, which confirms to a certain extent the observations made in **Figure 4.11** in terms of OH• radical formation



**Figure 4.13:** Humic acid reduction (colour) as a function of UV exposure time measured at 430 nm for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

The spectrophotometric analysis carried out at 430 nm also showed some degree of organic reduction although pH dependency is not as pronounced, as was the case with the measurements taken at 254 nm. The initial degree (between 5 and 10 minute exposure) of reduction measured at 430 nm showed a faster response than was experienced with the measurements taken at 254 nm.



**Figure 4.14:** COD as a function of UV exposure time for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

### 4.5.2 Humic Acid Reduction By Photo-Catalytic Oxidation

**Figures 4.15** to **4.18** show the results obtained for the reduction in humic acid in terms of TOC, UV/VIS and COD through catalysed UV radiation at 254 nm.



**Figure 4.15:** TOC reduction as a function of catalysed UV exposure time for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9



**Figure 4.16:** Organic reduction (DOC) as a function of catalysed UV exposure time measured at 254 nm for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9



**Figure 4.17:** Humic acid reduction (colour) as a function of catalysed UV exposure time measured at 430 nm for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9



Figure 4.18: COD as a function of catalysed UV exposure time measured at 254 nm for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

The presence of the catalyst has vastly improved the oxidative power of the UV radiation in terms of TOC reduction compared to the non-catalised UV radiation. The results were comparable with those obtained during the oxidation of the humic acid with  $H_2O_2$ , both in terms of the degree of mineralisation and pH dependency.

A significant increase in organic reduction measured at both 254 nm and 430 nm was also observed when compared to the  $H_2O_2$  and uncatalysed UV treatment. The reason for the difference in the results between catalysed UV and the  $H_2O_2$  treatment cannot be explained at this stage. One possible explanation could be that different oxidation mechanisms are involved between the  $H_2O_2$  and humic substance and the catalysed UV and the humic substance, which could result in a difference in the intermediates being formed which in turn can influence the absorbance characteristics of the intermediate species. As indicated in **Section 2.2**, there are still a number of uncertainties in terms of metal catalysed organic oxidation that need to be studied to fully understand the pathways involved. It should also again be pointed out that the spectrophotometric analyses are not species specific, but a mere indication of the presence of lower molecular weight organic compounds.

The COD results showed in **Figure 4.18** are comparable with those obtained for the uncatalysed UV oxidation. The same argument that was used for the previous COD results still holds for these results in that during the flocculation process physical removal of the humics took place. During the oxidation processes discussed up to this point, intermediate organic products were formed and that COD results obtained are an indication of the ease of oxidation of the residual organic species and not necessarily an indication of the degree to which the organic species concentrations were reduced.

#### 4.6 HUMIC ACID REDUCTION AS A RESULT OF ANODIC OXIDATION

**Figures 4.19** to **4.22** show the results obtained for the reduction in humic acid in terms of TOC, UV/VIS and COD through anodic oxidation.



**Figure 4.19:** TOC reduction as a function of flow rate for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

The results depicted in **Figure 4.19** show the level of TOC reduction that could be achieved by a single pass of the humic acid solution through the anodic decomposition reactor chamber. A definite pH and flow dependency on the degree of mineralisation can be seen. In this case however (compared to the oxidation techniques discussed thus far), the more acidic the solution, the higher the degree of mineralisation. This is in agreement with the theoretical explanation given in **Section 2.4** and results reported by *Maluleke et al*<sup>53</sup>.

The formation of a brownish "floc" or resin like substance was also noticed in the samples collected from the permeate side of the reactor at all pH levels. A similar observation was reported by *Maluleke et al*<sup>53</sup> in studying the anodic oxidation of phenol. During the oxidation of the phenol, the 'floc" formation was however limited to the neutral to alkaline pH range only.



**Figure 4.20:** Humic acid reduction (DOC) at 254 nm by anodic oxidation as a function of flow rate for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9



**Figure 4.21:** Humic acid reduction (colour) at 430 nm by anodic oxidation as a function of flow rate for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

The spectrophotometric analyses at 254 nm and 430 nm showed a much improved degree of organic removal (at the flow rate where maximum TOC removal was observed) in comparison with the other oxidation techniques evaluated. A maximum of 95 % humic acid reduction (in terms of TOC) was observed at 430 nm. This compared favourably with similar results obtained during the flocculation tests. Lower molecular weight organic matter (as intermediates) is still present as indicated by the measurements taken at

254 nm, but it would appear to be less than what was observed during the  $H_2O_2$  and UV/catalysed UV oxidation. The nature of the organic species will however have to be identified once the mechanism for the anodic oxidation of humic acid has been studied in more detail. It is anticipated that much improved results (higher degree of mineralisation) will be achieved through a multi-pass system.



**Figure 4.22:** COD reduction by anodic oxidation as a function of flow rate for solutions at pH = 4, pH = 7 and pH = 9

The degree of COD reduction after anodic oxidation as a function of flow rate is shown in **Figure 4.22**. The results clearly show a flow dependency although no definite influence of pH could be seen. The reduction in the COD can be two-fold:

- Mineralisation of the humic substance to CO<sub>2</sub> and
- The formation of intermediate low molecular weight reaction by-products, possible short chain organic acids.

As with the other oxidation techniques, no direct comparisons should be made with results obtained from the different analytic techniques employed as the mechanisms and types of intermediates still need to be studied. It should be pointed out at this stage that the decomposition of the humic substance (as measured at 430 nm) by anodic oxidation was much more pronounced when compared to the oxidation by  $H_2O_2$ , UV and catalysed UV. The relatively low currents measured during the anodic oxidation process (**Table 4.1**) are also encouraging, as this will have a direct implication on operational costs. It would appear that there is a direct relationship between the degree of oxidation/mineralisation and the current as a function of pH, ie the lower the pH, the higher the current, the higher the degree of humic acid decomposition. Relatively high currents were recorded at the point of maximum degree of humic acid decomposition (140 l/m<sup>2</sup>/h) compared to the higher flow rates where the degree of oxidation was reduced.

рН	Flow rate	Current (mA)
9	140	36
	210	29
	280	21
	350	20
7	140	55
	210	45
	280	22
	350	21
4	140	68
	210	50
	280	30
	350	25

 Table 4.1: Current measurement at flow rate and pH during the anodic decomposition of humic acid

### CHAPTER 5:

# CONCLUSIONS

This **chapter** will mainly deal with the conclusions derived from the results obtained in comparing the four techniques evaluated for the removal/minimisation of humic acid from water in terms of their applicability to the power industry.

#### 5.1 COAGULATION/FLOCCULATION OF HUMIC ACID

This technique has a two-fold advantage in that it reduces the turbidity of the raw water as well resulting in a high degree of humic acid removal and subsequent TOC and COD reduction. The variability in turbidity, TOC and pH levels of natural waters would however determine the dosage required to achieve maximum TOC removal. An additional advantage of the technique is that no intermediate products are formed, which can result in low molecular weight organic compounds present that would require additional treatment other than the standard demin process. An issue that will have to be borne in mind is that the use of enhanced coagulation will result in the production of excess sludge in the treatment process, which will have to be disposed of. This could be the prime motivation to investigate alternative techniques for future use such as oxidation/mineralisation techniques.

#### 5.2 CHEMICAL OXIDATION BY H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>

Although a high degree of COD reduction was observed, TOC reduction ranged from below average to average at high dosage levels. The difference in the degree of TOC reduction and COD reduction is attributed to the formation of intermediate or reaction by-products such as low molecular organic acids. These compounds will still be present as TOC and have an absorbance at 254 nm and 430 nm, hence the poor results observed using spectrophotometric measuring techniques as an indication of humic acid reduction.

#### 5.3 PHOTO-OXIDATION

UV oxidation at 254 nm had very little impact on the oxidation of the humic compound, although the use of the TiO<sub>2</sub> vastly improved the degree of TOC reduction (again the formation of lower molecular organic compounds was evident). This efficacy of this technique strongly depends on contact time. Although basic research to explain the theory behind the process is well documented, little attention has been given as to the practical implementation of the technique in industry, ie reactor design for high flow requirements, energy consumption and the impact of possible OH• scavenging compounds that could be present in natural waters. During this **study**, the influence of just pH on the reduction of TOC was clearly demonstrated.

#### 5.4 ANODIC OXIDATION

Although there was a below average reduction in the TOC concentration after a single pass of the humic acid containing water through the anodic oxidation chamber, the spectrophotometric and COD measurements showed a much improved state of affairs when compared to the results obtained for the photo-oxidation and chemical oxidation techniques. The results that were observed for the 430 nm and COD measurements were in fact comparable to those obtained during the coagulation/flocculation tests.

From this, the immediate conclusion would be that on average 90% of the humic acids were oxidised (**Figure 4.21**). However due to the lack of information regarding the nature of the "floc" that formed during the oxidation process, it would be pre-mature to base this high degree in humic acid and COD reduction (**Figures 4.21** and **4.22** respectively) purely on oxidation. The possibility that a chemical reaction could have occurred between the anode and the humic compound resulting in the humic acid actually precipitating out of solution, rather than being oxidised, should not be ruled out at this stage.

In conclusion, the results obtained for anodic oxidation indicate that there would be merit in exploring this technology further, provided that suitable analytical techniques are available to study the mechanisms involved in the oxidation of humic substances.

#### 5.5 GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

The following general conclusions can be made at this point in time:

- Enhanced flocculation/coagulation is a suitable and practical technology to remove humic substances from natural waters, especially where conventional infra-structure is available,
- From the oxidation techniques studied, anodic oxidation shows great promise for further exploitation,
- The lack of suitable analytical methodology such as HPLC and LC/MS, would hinder any mechanistic studies with regard to the oxidation of humic substances or the formation of lower molecular weight organic compounds,
- Techniques such as spectrophotometric and COD measurements are no indication of the degree of mineralisation of organic compounds during oxidation,
- The lack of the commercial availability of the oxidation techniques studied (except for H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) prohibits any techno-economic comparisons to be made at this stage and
- The lack of sufficient documented data on the mechanistic oxidation of humic substances and the complexity of these humic substances had a negative impact on this research.

# CHAPTER 6:

### RECOMMENDATIONS

.

From the results obtained and observations made during this study, the following recommendations are made:

- In the absence of technologically matured oxidation techniques, enhanced coagulation should continue to be used as a means to control and minimise NOM.
- Enhanced coagulation/flocculation should be used as a bench mark against which the performance of oxidation techniques are being evaluated,
- Fundamental research in the use of anodic oxidation as a means to reduce NOM in natural waters should continue as the technique showed very positive results,
- The future research should include real samples,
- The above research should be accompanied by developing suitable analytical techniques to study the oxidation of humic substances and the reaction by-products/intermediates formed during oxidation and
- Future research with regard to anodic oxidation will have to include reactor designers to address the need of the industry in terms of application.

The above recommendations are also true for any oxidatioin technique developed for the treatment of natural waters and are supported by similar recommendations made during 1998 at an international workshop held in Lausanne, Switzerland.<sup>55</sup> Some of these recommendations included:

- The development of standard comparative tests for oxidation techniques,
- A full understanding of the radical and redox chemistry of oxidation techniques,
- Understanding, eliminating or inhibiting the chemical and the physical processes that reduce the efficiencies of oxidation techniques,
- Conducting multi-discipline research involving engineers, chemists and biologists to improve oxidation techniques,
- Modelling studies for scale-up and predicting of oxidation techniques,
- Establish figures of merit to compare the performance of oxidation techniques,

- Identification of undesirable by-products,
- Innovation in reactor design and
- Conducting research on real samples not only model compounds.

# REFERENCES
#### **REFERENCES:**

- 1. CHEMISTRY STANDARDS FOR COAL FIRED UNITS WITH ONCE-THROUGH BOILERS OPERATING AT 17 MPa, GGS 0209, Revision 3, Eskom, April 1999.
- 2. STRAUSS SD, "Control of turbine steam chemistry." Special Report, POWER, March 1981, Vol 125, No 3, 33-42.
- BYERS WA, RICHARDS JE and HOBART SA, "Industry wide survey of organics in PWR's." Proceedings International Water Conference, 1986, IWC-86-11.
- 4. BOYD WT, "Applications of TOC and inorganic carbon monitoring in power generation." Ultrapure water, July/August, 1995, 32-36.
- DEAK-PHILLIPS A and HUTTE R, "On-line monitoring of total organic carbon on power plants." Proceedings, International Water Conference, 1994, IWC-94-52.
- MARTYNOVA OI and VAINMAN AB, "Some problems of oxygenated water chemistry on units with once-through boilers." VGB PowerTech 77, 1997, No 8, 579-601.
- 7. WATER SUPPLY IN THE EASTERN TRANSVAAL HIGHVELD, Department of Water Affairs and Forestry.
- DAVIS VR, "Organic contamination of source water and its contribution in relation to fouling of anion exchange resin in deionisation plants." Combustion, August 1979, 24-27.
- 9. TILSEY GM, "Interaction of organic matter with anion resin." Chemistry and Industry, March 1979, 142-148.

62

- SHERRY A, "Modern power station practice Chemistry and metallurgy." Second edition, Vol 5, 1971, 310-312.
- FU PLK AND SYMONS JM, 'Mechanistic interaction of aquatic organic substances with anion exchange resins." Advances in chemistry series 219: Aquatic humic substances, American Chemical Society, 1989, 797-811.
- 12. GERICKE G, MAUGHAN EV, ROSCOE G, "The measurement of TOC in the cycle fluid of modern power plants and the correct selection of monitoring equipment." Power Plant Chemistry 2000, 2(4), 219-222.
- ZEIJSEINK AGL, "Current challenges for cycle chemistry in the Netherlands." Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Fossil Plant Cycle Chemistry, EPRI TR-108459, November 1997.
- 14. ASPDEN JD, PFLUG HD, BELLOWS JC, RZIHA M, HEIN M, SEIPP H, HUBER S, SVOBODA R, MAUGHAN EV, WOOST O AND SEIJSEINK AGL, "The VGB guidelines for organic matter in the steam-water circuit of power plants – An interim report by the Working Group." EPRI/VGB International Conference on Steam Chemistry, June 22-25, 1999, Freiburg, Germany.
- 15. McINTOSH RJ, "On-line TOC measurement and the prevention of steam generator corrosion," Proceedings of the EPRI Condensate Polishing and Water Purification Workshop, May 5-7, 1987, Oak Brook, USA.
- 16. POIRIER SJ AND McINTOSH RJ, "The application of on-line TOC monitoring in semiconductor and power generation plants." Ultrapure Water, July/August 1986, 19-26.
- 17. BODMER M, "Acid corrosion in steam turbines." Combustion, March 1978.
- 18. KOROVIN VA, "Thermal decomposition of organic impurities in boiler condensate.' Energetic No 5, 1980.

- 19. PETROVA TI, MARTYNOVA OI, ZONOV AA AND ERMAKOV OS, "Carry-over of organics from boiling water to saturated steam." Paper presented at the ESKOM/EPRI Symposium, Midrand, June 1994.
- TYLDESLEY JD AND TITTLE K, "The determination of organic acids in power station steam/water circuits." Publication from the CEGB Scientific and Technical Branch, 1980.
- 21. GERICKE G AND SURENDER D, 'Resin leachates and their thermal decomposition." Eskom Report RES/RR/99/00158, October 1999.
- 22. GOEL S, HOZALSKI RM AND BOUWER EJ, "Biodegradation of NOM: effect of NOM source and ozone dose." Journal AWWA, January 1995, 90-115.
- VIK EA, "Coagulation process for removal of humic substances from drinking water." Advances in chemistry series 219: Aquatic humic substances, American Chemical Society, 1989, 385-408.
- 25. MacCARTHY P and Suffet IH, "Aquatic humic substances and their Influence on the fate and treatment of pollutants." Advances in chemistry series 219, Aquatic humic substances, American Chemical Society, 1989, xvii-xxx.
- 26. "Introduction to water treatment: Principles and practices of water supply operations." AWWA, Vol 2, 63-92, 1984.
- 27. "Water quality treatment." American Water Works Association, Third Edision, 66-122, 1971.
- 28. DENTEL SK, "Coagulant control in water treatment." Critical Reviews in Environmental Control, 21(1):14-135 (1991)

- WORTLEY BH, "Polyaluminium chloride and calcium carbonate applications in papermaking." TAPPI Short Course Notes, Neutral/Alkaline Papermaking, 119-124, 1990.
- 30. JACANGELO JG, DeMARCO J, OWEN DM and RANDTKE SJ, "Selected processes for removing NOM: An overview." Journal AWWA, January 1995, 64-76.
- 31. CROZES G, WHITE P and MARSHALL M, "Enhanced coagulation: Its effect on NOM removal and chemical costs." Journal AWWA, January 1995, 78-89.
- 32. CROUE JP, LEVEBRE E, MARTIN B and LEGUBE B, "Removal of dissolved hydrophobic and hydrophilic organic substances during coagulation/flocculation of surface water." Wat. Sci. Tech., Vol 27, No 11(143-152), 1993.
- SINSABAUGH RL, HOEHN RC, KNOCKE WR and LINKINS AE, "Removal of dissolved organic carbon by coagulation with iron sulphate." Journal AWWA (75-82), May 1986.
- 34. REBHUN M and LURIE M, "Control of organic matter by coagulation and floc separation." Wat. Sci. Tech., Vol 27, No 11(1-20), 1993.
- 35. GERICKE G, "Reduction of natural organic matter in the Komati River system." Eskom Report RES/RR/99/00125, February 2000.
- Plant L and Jeff M, "Hydrogen peroxide: A potential force to destroy organics in wastewater." Chemical Engineering (16-20), September 1994.
- 37. WAYNE RP, "Principles and applications of photochemistry." (236), Oxford University Press, 1988.
- 38. ERTL G, KNOZINGER H and WEITKAMP J, "Handbook of heterogeneous catalysis." Chapter 13.

- PICHAT P, "Partial or complete heterogenous photocatalytic oxidation of organic compounds in liquid organic or aqueous phases." Catalysis Today 19 (313-334), 1994.
- MINERO C, PELIZZETTI E, PICHAT P, SEGA and VINCENTI M, "Formulation of condensation products in advanced oxidation technologies: The degradation of dichlorophenols on TiO<sub>2</sub>." Environmental Science and Technology, Vol 29, No 9 (2226-2234), 1995.
- 41. CERMANATI L, PICHAT P, GUILLARD C and ALBINI A, "Probing the TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalytic mechanisms in water treatment purification by the use of quinoline, photo-phenton generated OH• radicals and superoxide dismutase." Journal of the American Chemical Society, Dec 1996.
- 42. WINSHIP S, "Evaluation of different methods to produce free radicals for the oxidation of organic molecules in industrial effluents and potable water with reference to Cav-OX." WRC Report No338/1/99, July 1995.
- ANDERSON C, "A comparison of high purity water TOC measurements using commercially available equipment." Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> Annual Semiconductor Pure Water Conference.
- KERZHENTSEV M, GUILLARD C, HERMANN J-M and PICHAT P, "Photocatalytic pollutant removal in water at room temperature: Case study of the total degradation of the insecticide fenitrothion." Catalysis Today 27 9215-230), 1996.
- 45. COMMINELLIS C and PULGARIN C, "Electrochemical oxidation of phenol for wastewater treatment using SnO<sub>2</sub> anodes." Journal of Applied Electrochemistry, 23 (1993) 108 112.

- 46. COMMINELLIS C and PULGARIN C, "Anodic oxidation of phenol for wastewater treatment." Journal of Applied Electrochemistry, 21 (1991) 703 708.
- 47. LINKOV V and GERICKE G, "Anodic oxidation." Eskom Research Report, RES/RR/00/11922, January 2001
- 48. "Electrolysis with new anodes." Chemical Industry Technology 69, No 6 (1997)758, English translation from German
- 49. TOMILOV SG, MAINAROVSKI MY, FIOSHIN VA and SMIRNOV VA, "Electrochemistry of organic substances." Khimiya, 1976.
- 50. Private communication with Dr P Apps, PROBE, Biochemtek, CSIR.
- 51. EATON AD, CLESCERI LS, and GREENBERG AE, "Standard methods for the examination of water and waste water." 19<sup>th</sup> Edition, AWWA (6-61), 1995.
- 52. PONTIUS FW, "Water quality and treatment." AWWA.
- 53. MALULEKE MA and LINKOV V, "Anodic oxidation of phenols and humic acids in aqueous solution." Eskom Research Report, RES/RR/01/13300.
- 54. HECHT MP and HILTEBRAND DJ, "The enhanced coagulation rule: Impacts and implications." Proceedings of the Conference on flocculants, coagulants and precipitants in water treatment." Atlanta, Georgia, October 1994.
- 55. "Summary of workshop discussions." Proceedings of International Conference on Advanced Oxidation Technologies, Lausanne, Switzerland, 1998.

## **APPENDIX A:**

In **Appendix A** a publication from the author as published in the VGB PowerTech Journal, Volume 82/2002 (ISSN 1435–3199), March 2002 is presented. The publication was titled: "Plant optimisation: A Key Factor in Minimising Natural Organic Matter in Power Station Make-up Water. A list of the Editorial Staff, Scientific Editorial Advisory Board and Technical Editorial Advisory Board is also presented.

# 3/2002

#### Zwangdurchlauf-Dampferzeuger

"Die richtige Wahl für Wärme-Rückgewinnung in Kombi- und KWK-Anlagen."

#### Once Through Steam Generators (OTSG's)

"The best choice for heat recovery in Combined Cycle and Cogeneration applications."

International Journal for Electricity and Heat Generation

Publication of VGB PowerTech e.V. http://www.vgb.org

一次并占

tine and

的形式的





# Plant Optimization: A Key Factor in Minimizing Natural Organic Matter in Power Station Make-up Water

#### Kurzfassung

Anlagenoptimierung: Ein wesentlicher Faktor in der Minimierung natürlicher Organika in Kraftwerkszusatzwasser

Der zunehmende Einsatz von Hochtemperatur- und Hochdruck-Kessel- und -Turbinenanlegen, die mit hohen Drücken und hohen Temperaturen arbeiten, zwingt die Kraftwerke, ständig an der Verbesserung der Qualität von Kondensat und Speisewasser zu arbeiten. Ein Forschungsgebiet, das sehr aktuell geworden ist, ist das Abscheiden von natürlichen Organika aus dem Kraftwerkszusatzwasser. Im Trinkwasser können organische Stoffe den Geschmack beeinflussen und zu einer Verfärbund führen. Sie können das Bilden von Keimungsnebenprodukten einleiten und verteilte und kolloidale Teilchen im Klärvorgang stabilisieren. Obwohl sich Rohwasser durch die Demineralisierung von anorganischen Salzen befreien lässt, ist das Abscheiden organischer Stoffe weitaus schwieriger.

Einige organische Verbindungen lassen sich im lonenaustausch herausfangen, jedoch verschmutzt dabei das Anionentauschharz und in geringerem Umfang auch das Kationentauschharz. Das kann wiederum den Gesamtwirkungsgrad der Wasseraufbereitung mindern. Die nicht entfernten Organika finden ihren Weg in den Wasser-Dampf-Kreislauf, wo sie unter thermohydraulischen Einflüssen zerfallen. Die Zerfallsprodukte stören die Qualität von Dampf und Kondensat. Zwar ist eine Reihe moderner Oxidationsverfahren zur Herabsetzung oder Beseitigung organischer Stoffe aus Wasser bekannt, jedoch war man bei Eskom zuerst bestrobt, mit betrieblichen Maßnahmen zu Ergebnissen zu kommen. Es zeigte sich, dass durch eine sorgfältige Auswahl von Flockungs- und Ausfällmitteln sowie einen optimierten Zusatz dieser chemischen Stoffe die vorhandene Organika-Abscheidung in der Anlage um bis zu 300 % gestelgert werden konnte.

#### Introduction

#### Utility Background

Eskom is the national electricity utility for South Africa and the fifth largest electricity generating company in the world. It is gener-

Author

G. Gericke

Technology Services International. Eskom Enterprises, Jahannesburg/South Africa. ating more than half of the electricity produced on the African continent. Its nominal capacity of 37 840 MW is distributed via a power line network of 241 802 km fed by 10 fossil-fited power plants, one nuclear power plant and some hydro-electric and pump storage schemes. The fossil power plants burn about 76 nullion metric tonnes of coal per annum.

#### Water Supply to Eskom

Eskom power plants obtain their water as surface water from mainly three river systems, namely the Kornati. Usuthu and Vaal Rivers. These systems are interlinked to form what is known as a transfer scheme and it is possible for stations to also get water blends from the various sources, however this is more the exception than the norm and is determined mainly by dam levels and conditions of severe drought [1].

The turbidities of the water for the three main sources range from 1.7 to \$\$.2 FTU with an average total organic earbon (TOC) concentration of about 6 ppm. It should be noted that these values are subject to seasonal changes and TOC values as high as 16 ppm have been recorded during the rainy seasons.

The water treatment processes employed by Eskom to produce boiler make-up water consist mainly of:

- pre-chlorination of the raw water.
- coagulation and clarification.
- sand filtration, and
- demineralization.

The specifications for demineralized water as per the Eskom Chemistry Guidelines [2] is given in Table 1.

#### Rational for Organic Specification and Control of Natural Organic Matter

Owing to the high operating temperatures and pressures, there is an ever increasing need to maintain the highest purity in the cycle fluid of modern power plant. In addition to the ubiquitous inorganic containinants, it is also recognized that the presence of organic matter contributes to the impurity of the power plant cycle chemistry as documented by a number of authors over the years [3 to 7]. There are a number of possible sources through which organic matter can enter the water/steam cycle of a power plant:

- -- make-up water.
- --- ion exchange resin.
- condenser inleakage.
- pre-operational preservatives,
- bacteria,
- lubricating oil, and
- water, treatment and chemical cleaning agents.

Of all these sources, the raw water is the most likely source of contamination, because all natural waters contain natural organic matter (NOM) in the form of humic substances. Although water demineralization processes can cope with the removal of inorganic salts from raw water, the removal of organic matter poses a far greater problem. Some organic compounds can be removed via the ion exchange process, however fouling of the anion exchange resin, and to a lesser extent the cation exchange resin. occurs during this process. This can have an impact on the overall performance of the water treatment plant. Those organics that are not removed will find their way into the water/steam circuit where they are decomposed through thermo-hydraulic processes forming carbon dioxide and lower molecular weight organic acids, contributing to cation conductivity levels [4 to 10].

This paper will discuss two case studies experienced by Eskom with the influence of natural organic matter on the water treatment plant, the effect on the quality of water produced and the actions taken to minimize the impact.

#### Table 1. Demin water specifications for coalfired power stations measured at the mixed bed outlet.

Parameter		Target	Limit
Turbicity (FTU)		< 0.1	0.2
Specific conductivity	(µS/cm at 25 °C)	< 0.38	0.1
Sodium	(ppb as Na*)	< 1	\$
Silca	(ppb as SiO <sub>2</sub> )	ALARA	10
Chloride	(ppb as Cl.)	< 1	2
Sulphate	ppb as SO <sub>2</sub> <sup>2-</sup> i	< 1	2
TOC	(ppb as C)	100	250

#### Impact of NOM on Water Treatment Plant and Water Quality

#### Sodium and TOC Leakage

The majority of NOM present in natural waters is acidic in nature and is therefore only partly removed by cation exchange resins. These compounds are however strongly absorbed by anion exchange resins. It has been postulated that the removal of organic compounds by anion exchange resins can take place by either electrostatic forces and ion exchange or adsorption onto the resin matrix via van der Waats forces or a combination of the two mechanisms [11, 12].

During the regeneration process (caustic for anion exchange resin) the organic compounds are not completely removed due to the high affinity of the resin for the organic molecules. Gradual fouling of the resin takes place over a period of time and the resin starts to show the following symptoms [11]:

- the rinse water requirements increase,
- the earboxyl groups of the organic compounds interact with the Na<sup>+</sup> ion of the caustic to form sodium carboxylate which eventually hydrolyses back to the free acid releasing sodium ions into the product water.
- gradual increase in product water conductivity and decrease in pH due to organic acid leakage.
- gradual silica leakage.
- a gradual decline in exchange capacity over a period of time, and
  - shortened operating times.

To overcome this problem, caustic brine washes need to be carried out from time to time and the frequency of these clean-up procedures will increase with increasing fouling levels.

The phenomenon of sodium and TOC leakage from organically fouled anion exchange resin can clearly be seen from results and shortened operating times that were obtained from a demineralization unit which had a design specification of 9 MI (Figures 1 and 2).

#### Fouled Sand Filters, TOC Carry Over and Silica Slippage

Figure 3 shows the TOC results of a freatment plant that suffered from poor organic removal sludge carry over from the clarifiers and anaerobic conditions in the sand filters.

Apart from the high TOC levels measured at the outlet of the mixed hed, an average oxygen absorbed concentration of 1.3 ppm was also measured. A sudden silica slip of about 100 ppb was also observed halfway

through the service cycle, where after the train was taken out of service.

Upon investigation, it was found that the clarifier suffered from sludge carry over for a period of time, fouling the sand filters and the cation inlet sump. The sand filters were

neither backwashed nor sanitized regularly. This eventually led to the creation of anaerobic conditions in the sand and the sludge carried into the sump which contributed to severe resin fouling and hence the slippage of TOC and silica.

#### Reduction of NOM through Enhanced Coagulation and Plant Optimization

There are a number of ways through which TOC levels can be reduced during water purification, which include the application of the following technologies:

- advanced oxidation processes (AOP),
- activated carbon,
- organic scavenging resin,
- membrane processes, and
- enhanced coagulation.

Eskom evaluated all of the above technologies as options to minimize the impact of NOM on its plant. AOP was ruled out from both a cost benefit and effectiveness point of view. It was found that under AOP treatment higher molecular weight compounds were only broken down to lower molecular weight organic species without having a significant impact on the TOC levels.

Activated carbon, organic scavenging resin and membrane processes would need to be retrofitted to existing plant resulting in additional capital outlay and water treatment costs.

Evaluation of existing plant operating procedures showed that if the plant operation could be optimized with respect to operating conditions together with the application of enhanced coagulation, TOC reduction of to 70% could be achieved across the primary treatment process without excessive additional costs ineurred. Enhanced coagulation can roughly be defined as the optimum addition of coagulation chemicals (1.5 to 7 times the requirement for turbidity removal) to reduce TOC levels to a minimum. Enhanced coagulation has been identified by the United States Environmental Protection Agency as the "*Best Available Method*" for not only reducing TOC levels via flocculation, but also to minimize tri-halomethane precursors in potable water [13 bis 17].



Figure 1. Sodium leakage levels from various stages in the demineralization process.



Figure 2. TOC leakage levels from various production stages in the demineralization process.



Figure 3. TOC concentration at various stages in the demineralization process.

#### VGB

The programme introduced by Eskom entailed:

- the evaluation of coagulants and flocculants available on the South African market,
- the dosing levels required.
- the application, and
- the measurement of the effectiveness of the treatment programme, which was done by UV-254 nm measurements supplemented by TOC and High Performance Liquid Chromatography analysis.

Figure 4 shows typical dissolved organic carbon (DOC) removal results obtained from a water treatment plant before the application of the enhanced coagulation (coagulant dosage based on turbidity removal only) and after applying enhanced coagulation.

Recently, DOC removal levels of up to 90 % have been achieved, which corresponds to about 60 % TOC removal.

Traditionally, aluminium sulphate (alum) was primarily used as coagulant, but with the introduction of enhanced coagulation, the alum was replaced by poly-aluminium chloride (PAC) to avoid excess sulphate burden on the demineralization plant. The PAC and poly-electrolyte are dosed as separate products (not blends as commonly used for potable water treatment) to avoid the over dosage of poly-electrolyte, which can be carried over into the demineralization plant where it can foul the cation exchange resin. Excess, unreacted poly-electrolyte can also increase the TOC concentration of the water to be treated. Experience has shown that this is especially true when water quality or flow rates change and dosage levels have to be adjusted accordingly.



Figure 4. DOC concentration at various stages in the demineralization process before and after enhanced coagulation.

Apart from the correct flocculant selection, a number of key plant operating parameters also need to be addressed to obtain the full advantage of enhanced coagulation:

- measurements and control of raw water and chemical dosing,
- the proper chemical selection, preparation and application (sufficient reaction thme is important).
- TOC/DOC and turbidity monitoring,
- stop/start operation of clarifier (the start up procedure is very important to prevent any sludge carry over),
- sand filter operation, backwashing and sanitizing,
- control over the upflow rate in the clarifier,
- sludge management and control,
- seasonal changes in TOC and turbidity levels, and
- temperature changes and the impact on the clarifier performance (during cold spells there might be a requirement to increase the dosage levels).

Conclusion

The practice of enhanced coagulation, coupled to a plant optimization and a resin manage-



#### FAM Deltacon pH -

On-line Monitor for Conductivity and Calculated pH in Feedwater, Steam and Condensate.



Phone ++41 1 943 63 00 FAX ++41 1 943 63 01 www.swan.ch E-Mail: swan@swan.ch

#### Mitteilungen der VGB-Geschäftsstelle

nent programme can be highly successful in reducing TOC levels across the conventional reatment processes employed to produce power plant make-up water of high quality.

#### Acknowledgement

The author would like to thank Eskom for granting permission to present this work and Eskom Resources and Strategy, Research Division, for providing the funding which nade this work possible.

#### References

- Water Supply to the Eastern Transvaal Highweld, Department of Water Affairs and Forestry.
- Chemistry Standards for Coal-Fired Units with Once-Through Boilers Operating at 17 MPa. GGS 0209, Revision 3, Eskom, April 1999.
- 3] Byers, W.A., Richards, J.E., and Hohart, S.A. Industry wide survey of organics in PWR's, Proceedings International Water Conference 1986, IWC-86-11.
- Bayd, B.T.: Applications of TOC and inorganic carbon monitoring in power generation. Ultrapure water, July August 1995, pp. 32-36.
- Deak-Phillips, A., and Hatte, R.: On-line monitoring of total organic carbon in power plants. Proceedings, International Water Conference 1994, JWC-94-52.
- 6] Martonova, O.L. and Vainman, A.B.: Some problems of oxygenated water chemistry on units with once through boilers. VGB PowerTech 77 (1997) No 8, pp. 579-601.
  7] Manghan, E.F., Gericke, G., and Roscov, G.: The measurement of TOC in the cycle
- [7] Manghan, E.V., Geneke, G., and Roscoe, G., The measurement of TOC in the cycle fluid of modern power plants and the correct selection of monitoring equipment. Power Plant Chemistry 2000, No.2(4), pp. 219 to 222.
- 8) McIntosh, R.J.: On-line TOC measurement and the prevention of steam generator corrosion. Proceedings of the EPRI Condensate Polishing and Water Parification Workshop, May 5-7, 1987, Oak Brook USA.
- Bodmer, M.; Acid corrosion in steam turbings, Combustion, March 1978.
- Korovin, U.A.: Thermal decomposition of organic imparities in boiler condensate. Energetic No. 5, 1980.
   Tilsey, G.M.: Interaction of organic maner
- [11] Tilsey, G.M.: Interaction of organic matter with anion resin. Chemistry and Industry, March 1979, pp. 142–148.
- V Fu, P.L.K., and Symons, J.M.: Mechanistic interaction of aquatic organic substances with anion exchange restricts. Advances in chemistry series 219, Aquatic humic substances, American Chemical Society (1989) pp. 797–811.
- [13] Rehhun, M. and Luriefloc, M.: Control and organic matter by coagulation and floc separation. Wat. Sci. Tech. 27, (1993).
- [4] Cheng, R.C., Krasnör, J.F., Green, F., and Wattler, K.L.: Enhanced coagulation: A preliminary evaluation, Journal of the American Water Works Association, February 1995.
- [15] Eaton, A.: Measuring UV-absorbing organies: A standard method. Journal of the American Water Works Association, February 1995.
- [6] Amiriharajah, 4.: Recent advances in coagulation and implications for enhanced water treatment rale. 2nd Conference on Flocculants, Coagulants and Precipitants in water treatment, Atlanta, Georgia/USA, October 1994.
- [7] Baily, J.: Sorting through the flox. 2nd Conference on Flocculants, Coagulants and Precipitants in water treatment, Atlanta, Georgia/USA, October 1994.

#### Mieten statt kaufen – auch bei Energieerzeugung

#### Europamarkt für die Vermietung von Energieerzengungsanlagen

Immer weniger Unternehmen investieren in der Zukunft in den Bau etgener Energieanlagen, viele setzen stattdessen auf Mieje. Entsprechend soll der Umsatz auf dem Europamarkt für die Vermietung von Energieerzeugungsanlagen von über 360 Mill. US-S im Jahre 2000 auf rund 550 Mill. US-S im Jahre 2007 ansteigen. Zu diesem Ergebnis kommt die Unternehmensberatung Frost & Sullivan in einer neuen Analyse.

Angesichts der aktuellen Wirtschaftslage drosseln viele Unternehmen ihre Investitionen und orientieren sich stärker auf kurzfristige Renditen. Das Mieten von Energieerzeugungsanlagen, meist von Dieselaggregaten, ist dabei nach Ian French, Marktforschungsanalyst bei Frost & Sullivan, eine kostengünstige Möglichkeit. Energie einzusetzen, ohne in Anlagen investieren und Personal vorhalten zu müssen. Kurzzeit-Energieversorgungsverträge erfreuen sich deshalb wachsender Beliebtheit. Vorübergehende Energieengpässe, steigender Energiebedarf und Kostenvorteile durch Mieten tragen zur Attraktivität dieser Lösung bei. Entsprechend ist in sämtlichen Abnehmerbranchen mit einem deutlichen Wachstein zu rechnen, wobei Bauwesen, Industrie und die Veranstaltungsbranche mit zusammen mehr als 65.5 % des Gesamtumsatzes im Jahre 2000 auch in Zukunft die lukrativsten sein dürften.

#### Vorteile des Mietens müssen besser an Kunden kommuniziert werden

Obwohl der Markt in den nächsten 10 Jahren kräftig wachsen soll, bleibt eine Reihe von Hindernissen zu überwinden. Vor allem müssen die Industriekunden noch besser mit den Vorteilen des Mietens von Energieerzeugungsanlagen vertraut gemacht werden. Ein weiteres Wachstumshemmnis ist die Tatsache, dass Bauunternehmen in Regionen wie Deutschland und Skandinavien Energie aus dem Netz beziehen können.

Insgesamt dominieren aber auf dem Gesamtmarkt die positiven Triebkräfte.

#### Hohe Margen locken neue Anhieter

Eine Anlage bringt während ihrer Lebensdauer bis zum 10-fachen der Investitionskosten ein, Eingerechnet ist dabei normalerweise auch ihr Verkauf auf dem Gebrauchtanlagenmarkt. Allerdings überholen einige Anbieter ihre Anlagen und erzielen dann wieder 60 bis 70 % des Neupreises. Solche Margen ziehen immer mehr Unternehmen an. und immer mehr konzentrieren sich auf den Bau- und den Veranstaltungssektor. So ist zu erwarten, dass sich der Markt in den nächsten Jahren erheblich konsolidieren wird. Dabei werden die Marktführer ihre Positionen durch Fusionen und Übernahmen festigen. Die meisten Opfer dürften unter den Unternehmen zu finden sein, die sich auf Anwendersektoren am unteren Ende der Preisskala wie Bauwesen und Veranstaltungsbetrieb beschränken. Mit der Verschärfung des Wetthewerbs wird das Preisniveau sinken. wodurch das Mieten für die Anwender noch attraktiver werden dürfte.

#### Markıführer: Aggreko

Mitteilungen der VGB-Geschäftsstelle

Marktführer auf gesamteuropäischer Ebene ist Aggreko, doch verfügen auch andere Marktteilnehmer über nennenswerte Marktanteile in bestimmten Länder- oder Regionalmärkten. Einige größere Unternehmen verfolgen Strategien zur Ausdehnung ihrer Aktivitäten über ihre bisherigen Geschäftsfelder hinaus. Mit dem Wachstum des Marktes haben sie sich auf Mehrwertdienstleistungen wie Kühlung, Spezialanlagen und technische Beratung konzentriert.

#### Titel der Analyse:

The European Power Generation Rental Market (Report 3942) Preis € 5500.~

#### Das neue KWK-Gesetz bringt Klimaschutz voran

#### Endlich Rechtssicherhoit für Investitionen

Als wichtigen Beitrag zur effizienten Förderung der Kraft-Wärme-Kopplung (KWK) und damit zum Klimaschutz bewertet der Verband der Elektrizitätswirtschaft (VDEW). Berlin, das am 25. Januar 2002 vom Bundestag verabschiedete neue KWK-Gesetz, "Endlich wird das gehende, unzulängliche Gesetz abgelöst. Damit ist der Weg frei für Investitionen zur Modernisierung und zum Ausbau der energiesparenden und umweltschonenden Technik", betont VDEW-Präsident Günther Märguis.

Der VDEW-Präsident hatte die intensiven und langwierigen Verhandlungsrunden zwischen den acht beteiligten Verhänden und mit der Politik koordiniert. "Das lange Ringen um den Kompromiss hat sich gelohnt – auch wenn der Wirtschaft erhebliche Zugeständnisse abverlangt wurden", hebt Marquis hervör. Schließlich sei das neue KWK-Gesetz ein wichtiger Baustein der Sethstverpflichtung der Industrie zum Klimaschutz. Danach ist zugesagt, die jährlichen CO<sub>2</sub>-Emissionen

6



### **Preview**

#### Themenschwerpunkt: Wasserkraft

Modern Plant Management in the Competitive Market

Hydro-power - Strategic Position of Electricity Generation in the Competitive Market

Society Demands and Sustainable Development

Up-to-date Surface Technology and Mobile Units for on-site Coating of Gas Turbine Compressor Components

Freischalten mit Konfliktprüfung im STEAG-SI-System

Combustion Engineering Measures to Reduce NO<sub>x</sub> in Pulverised Coal-fired Furnaces

Bericht über VGB-Konferenz "Instandhaltung in Kraftwerken" und zugehöriger Fachausstellung

Dr. P. Haller, Paris/France Professor Dr.-Ing. O. Hasenkopf, Stuttgart Dr. rer. nat. D. Kalimeyer, Essen Dr.-Ing. P. Necker, Esslingen Professor Lars Strömberg, Stockholm/Schweden Dr. rer. nat. W. Zaiss, Neckarwestheim

#### Translation

Editing and copy reading Marion Bellen (German) Sabine Kuhlmann (English)

#### **Circulation and Advertising Office**

VGB PowerTech Service GmbH Klinkestrasse 27–31, D-45136 Essen, P.O. Box 10 39 32, D-45039 Essen, Phone: Advertisements # 49201/81 28-212/213, Distribution # 49201/81 28-200, Subscriptions # 49201/81 28-200, Subscriptions # 49201/81 28-217, Fax # 49201/81 28-329. Advertisement: Dipt.-Kauffrau Angela Langen (responsible), and Beate Rattay, e-mail: mark@vgb.org Advertisement Rate Card No. 38 of January 1, 2002

#### Advertising Representation for USA

Trade Media International Corp. 421 Seventh Avenue, Suite 607, New York, N.Y. 10001-2002 USA Tel. 001212/564-3380, Fax 001212/594-3841 e-mail: rdtmicor@cs.com

#### Auflage IVW geprüft

Publishing Intervals Monthly, 2002 – Volume 82.

Subscription Conditions Annual subscription price for 12 copies:  $250,-\in$ , Price per copy  $22,-\in$ Postage and VAT are not included and will be added. Bookseller's discount 10 %. The subscription extends to another year if no written cancellation is made 3 months before expiry. VGB members will receive one copy free of charge regularly; further copies at a special price.

Conception and Layout PGPA Werbeagentur oHG, Heinrichstraße 51, D-44536 Lünen, Phone #49231 / 88 08-0, Fax #49231 / 88 08-100

*Type Setting and Reproduction* Blömeke Druck SRS GmbH, Resser Strasse 59, D-44653 Herne, Phone # 49 2325 / 92 97-0, Fax # 49 2325 / 92 97-40.

Printing and Processing



New power plant organization.

# VGB PowerTech

#### Publishe

VGB PowerTech e.V. Chairman: Dr.-Ing. G. Jäger, Essen. Executive Managing Director: Dr.-Ing. K. A. Theis, Essen.

#### Address VGB PowerTech e.V.

e-E

21.

₩ei

**VW** 

Frai

Reb

D-6

Telé

Tek

e-m

IBK

Ne

(In

für

vor

9./

We

IBK

Fra

D-9

Klinkestrasse 27-31, D-45136 Essen • P.O. Box 10 39 32, D-45039 Essen, Phone # 49 201 / 81 28 - 300/301, Fax # 49 201 / 81 28 - 302, e-mail: pr@vgb.org; Homepage: http://www.vgb.org

The journal and all papers and photos contained in it are protected by copyright. Any use made thereof outside the Copyright Act without the consent of the publishers is prohibited. This applies to reproductions, translations, microfilming and the input and incorporation into electronic systems. The individual author is held responsible for the contents of the respective paper. Please address letters and manuscripts only to the Editorial Staff and not to individual persons of the association's staff.

We do not assume any responsibility for unrequested contributions.

#### Editorial Office

Chief Editor: Dipl.-Ing. H. Blessmann, Assistant: Rita Maria Wilke.

#### Editorial Staff

Dr. F. Bauer, Dr.-Ing. W. vom Berg, Dipl.-Ing. U. Langnickel, Dr.-Ing. G. Schlegel, Dr. rer. nat. U. Staudt.

#### Scientific Editorial Advisory Board

Professor Dr.Ing. W. Bernstein, Dresden Professor Dr.-Ing. A. Bursik, Neulußheim Professor Dr.-Ing. K. Hein, Stuttgart Professor Dr.-Ing. U. Renz, Aachen Dr.-Ing. H. Scholtholt, Essen Professor Dr.-Ing. F. Stangenberg, Bochum Professor Dr. Ing. H. Stetter, Stuttgart Professor Dr. Ing. S. Wittig, Karlsruhe

Technical Editorial Advisory Barred